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ENCLOSURE

NOTICE OF VIOLATION

Seven K Construction Company, Inc. License No. 45-73074-01

The following violations were identified during an inspection conducted on
December 17, 1985. The Severity Levels were assigned in accordance with the NRC
Enforcement Policy (10 CFR Part ?, Appendix C).

1. License Condition I?(a) requires that licensed material shall be used by, or
under the supervision and in the physical presence of, Robert VanHorn,
Tom Shaughnessy, nr any individuals who have completed the Troxlar Training
course.

Contrary to the above, one technician who has not completed the Troxler
Traininq course used licensed material independently in the field on
December 6 and December 7, 1985.

This is a Severity level IV violation (Supplement VI).

P. 10 CFR 71.5(a) requires that each licensee who transports licensed material
shall comply with the applicable requirements of the regulations appropriate
to the mode of transport of the Department of Transportation in 49 CFR,
Parts 170 through 189.

49 CFR 17?.700(a) requires that each person who offers a hazardous material
for transportation shall describe the hazardous material on a shipping
paper.

Contrary to the above, shipping papers have nnt been available durino
transport by the licensee since the start of licensed activities.

This is a Severity Level V violation (Supplement Vil.

Pursuant to 10 CFR ?.901, you are required to submit to this nffice within
30 davs of the date of this Notice, a writton statoment or explanation in reply,
including: (1) admission or dental of the alleged violations; (?) the reasons
for the violations if admitted; (3) the corrective s+ans which have been taken
and the results achieved; (di corrective stens which will be taken to avoid
further violations; and (5) the date whon full compliance will he arhieved.

Security or safeguards information should be submitted as an enclosure to
facilitate withholding it from public disclosure as required bv 10 CFD ?.790(d)
or 10 CFR 73 ?1.
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